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 On August 14, 2011, a civilian sent an email to the RIC “to file a grave insult and harass-
ment case” against the applicant.  She stated that she and the applicant had dated for about a 
month in September 2010 but then stopped.  When the applicant learned that she was friends 
with his colleague in October 2010, he “sent me nasty messages insulting me.  I ignored him 
after telling him to stop texting me.”  After the applicant apologized, they became friends again 
and would text from time to time, “but there was no attraction at my end at all.”  However, on 
the morning of July 30, 2011, he sent her a photograph of himself in his boxers with the ques-
tion, “I have a problem can you help.”  And then he sent her a video of himself masturbating, 
which she considered “disrespectful, low class, and gross.  I texted him back and told him he’s 
crazy and that he should never ever text me again” and she stopped talking to him.  However, in 
August 2011, she recalled that she had left a favorite pair of sunglasses in his car in April or May 
and asked the applicant’s colleague, whom she was still friends with, to get them back from the 
applicant for her.  In response, the applicant sent her “insulting and below the belt attacks on 
texts … calling me poodle, no personality, etc.  If you send me your cellphone number, I can for-
ward his text messages and video and picture he sent me.  I’m forwarding this to your attention 
because this has to stop.”  In response, the RIC confiscated the applicant’s government phone 
and reported the complaint to the Coast Guard Recruiting Command (CGRC). 
 
 On September 23, 2011, the Executive Officer (XO) of the CGRC asked the Coast Guard 
Investigative Service (CGIS) to investigate the applicant’s alleged misuse of his government cell 
phone to take and send photographs and video of his genitalia and to send those photographs and 
video to his ex-girlfriend.  Pursuant to this request CGIS began investigating the applicant’s use 
of his cell phone by interviewing the applicant and his ex-girlfriend and conducting a forensic 
examination of the applicant’s government cell phone.  The forensic examiner found several 
pornographic images of nude individuals and exposed male genitalia on the phone, as well as a 
pornographic video featuring male genitalia.  The web browser history showed pornographic 
websites bookmarked and “visited on numerous occasions.”  The printed browser history in the 
CGIS report shows a long list of pornographic websites that were “last visited” in August 2011, 
shortly before the phone was confiscated, and some of these times were during the work day.  
  
 On his EER dated November 30, 2011, the applicant received an unsatisfactory conduct 
mark, a recommendation against advancement, and many low numerical marks (marks of 2 and 3 
on a scale of 1 to 7) in the various performance categories.  He did not appeal this EER.  The 
EER comments supporting the lowest marks state the following: 
 
• Human Relations:  “[He] has instigated and promoted unprofessional behavior in the work 

place and in his personal life.  [He] has been accused of alleged sexual harassment to which 
he has admitted to unprofessional behavior.  He has displayed discriminatory tendencies 
toward others based on their religion, age, sex, race, marital status, or ethnic background.  He 
allowed his biases to influence appraisals or the treatment of others.” 

• Integrity:  “[He] has continually been untrustworthy.  When confronted with a sexual harass-
ment allegation, he denied his involvement and later was provided with evidence of his mis-
conduct when he then confessed.” 

• Communicating:  “[He] continually uses inappropriate language towards subordinates and 
supervisors.  He is unable to take criticism and prefers confrontation.  When counseled by his 
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and the RIC, you continued to process qualified applicants into the DEP at your leisure vice the 
required timeline.” 

 
On April 24, 2012, the applicant was transferred and received a “transfer EER,” which is 

the disputed EER in this case.  On this disputed EER, the applicant received an unsatisfactory 
conduct mark, a recommendation against advancement, and even lower marks—primarily marks 
of 2.  The disputed EER comments supporting the low marks state the following: 
 
• Professional/Specialty Knowledge:  “[The applicant] blatantly disregards all [CGRO and 

CGRC] policies concerning the proper procedures for processing applicants.  The RIC was 
required to redo majority of [his] incomplete officer packages that were submitted without 
the RIC approval due to the lack of required forms and physicals not being submitted.  [He] 
could never give factual answers to the RIC concerning his applicants which showed his lack 
of conducting proper interviews.  [He] would continuously allege required paperwork was 
misplaced.” 

• Quality of Work:  … [Repeats prior comment] [The applicant’s] complete disregard to atten-
tion to detail directly lead [sic] to the removal of [CGRO] ship dates for all applicants.  [He] 
enlisted a member who relinquish[ed] legal custody of another individual solely for gaining 
entry into the Coast Guard.  [He] also requested ship dates without the authorization by the 
Recruiter in Charge for applicants that were not qualified for entry into the Coast Guard such 
as an applicant without a valid High School diploma and second applicant with a debt to 
income ratio well above the required 30% [maximum].” 

• Monitoring Work:  [His] complete disregard to attention to detail directly lead [sic] to the 
removal of [CGRO] ship dates for all applicants.  He blatantly disregards all [CGRO and 
CGRC] policies concerning the proper procedures for processing applicants.  [He] enlisted a 
member who relinquish[ed] legal custody of another individual solely for gaining entry into 
the Coast Guard.  [He] also requested ship dates without the authorization by the Recruiter in 
Charge for applicants that were not qualified for entry into the Coast Guard such as an appli-
cant without a valid High School diploma and second applicant with a debt to income ratio 
well above the required 30% [maximum].” 

• Communicating:  “[The applicant’s] use of inappropriate language towards a female appli-
cant to another recruiter of a sexual nature resulted in his complete removal from CG 
Recruiting.  His continued use of inappropriate language towards supervisors resulted in him 
no longer being allowed in the Recruiting Office or MEPS.” 

• Directing Others:  “[He] has constantly been disruptive in the office which has lead to his 
complete removal from both the Recruiting Office and MEPS.  [He] has been unrelenting[ly] 
disrespectful to his immediate supervisors not only in the office but at their homes as well.  
[His] complete disregard to attention to detail directly lead [sic] to the removal of [the 
CGRO] ship dates for all applicants.  He blatantly disregards all [CGRO and CGRC] policies 
concerning the proper procedures for processing applicants.” 

• Working with Others:  “[He] has constantly been disruptive in the office which has lead [sic] 
to his complete removal from both the Recruiting Office and MEPS.  [He] has been unre-
lenting[ly] disrespectful to his immediate supervisors not only in the office but at their homes 
as well.  [His] complete disregard to attention to detail directly lead to the removal of [the 
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CGRO] ship dates for all applicants.  He blatantly disregards all [CGRO and CGRC] policies 
concerning the proper procedures for processing applicants.” 

• Responsibility:  “[He] blatantly disregards all [CGRO and CGRC] policies concerning the 
proper procedures for processing applicants. [He] adamantly complained and challenged all 
new policy procedures put in place at [the CGRO] which in turn disrupted the office envi-
ronment.  His inability to adapt to changes resulted in multiple applicant ship date cancella-
tions.” 

• Setting an Example:  “[He] blatantly disregards all [CGRO and CGRC] policies concerning 
the proper procedures for processing applicants.  [His] complete disregard to attention to 
detail directly lead to the removal of [the CGRO] ship dates for all applicants. [He] enlisted a 
member who relinquish[ed] legal custody of another individual solely for gaining entry into 
the Coast Guard.  [He] also requested ship dates without the authorization by the Recruiter in 
Charge for applicants that were not qualified for entry into the Coast Guard such as an appli-
cant without a valid High School diploma and second applicant with a debt to income ratio 
well above the required 30% [maximum].” 

• Customs and Courtesies:  “[He] referred to his supervisors using inappropriate language in 
front of subordinates.  Continued use of inappropriate language and behavior lead [sic] to his 
removal from [the CGRO] and MEPS.” 

• Integrity:  “[The applicant] could never give factual answers to the RIC concerning his appli-
cants which showed his lack of conducting proper interviews.  [He] would continuously 
allege required paperwork was misplaced.  [He] has continuously been untrustworthy at [the 
CGRO].  When two applicants went to MEPS for inspect ship, applicants redid the DD-4/1 
and DD-4/2 forms vice the required DD-4/3 form which released them from USCG Reserves 
and enlisted them into active duty.  [The applicant] stated it is impossible to know which 
forms the applicants are signing because the MEPS system does no[t] show them.  Which 
later the RIC proved differently.” 

• Loyalty:  “[He] adamantly complained and challenged all new policy procedures put in place 
at [the CGRO] which in turn disrupted the office environment.  His inability to adapt to 
changes resulted in multiple applicant ship date cancellations.  His continued use of inappro-
priate language towards supervisors resulted in him no longer being allowed in the Recruit-
ing Office or MEPS.” 

• Respecting Others:  “[His] use of inappropriate language towards a female applicant to 
another recruiter of a sexual nature resulted in his complete removal from CG Recruiting.  
His continued use of inappropriate language towards supervisors resulted in him no longer 
being allowed in the Recruiting Office or MEPS.” 

• Human Relations:  “[His] use of inappropriate language towards a female applicant to 
another recruiter of a sexual nature resulted in his complete removal from CG Recruiting.  
His continued use of inappropriate language towards supervisors resulted in him no longer 
being allowed in the Recruiting Office or MEPS.” 

• Adaptability:  “[He] adamantly complained and challenged all new policy procedures put in 
place at [the CGRO] which in turn disrupted the office environment.  His inability to adapt to 
changes resulted in multiple applicant ship date cancellations.” 
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• Judgment:  “[He] enlisted a member who relinquish[ed] legal custody of another individual 
solely for gaining entry into the Coast Guard.  [He] also requested ship dates without the 
authorization by the Recruiter in Charge for applicants that were not qualified for entry into 
the Coast Guard such as an applicant without a valid High School diploma and second appli-
cant with a debt to income ratio well above the required 30% [maximum].” [His] complete 
disregard to attention to detail directly lead [sic] to the removal of [the CGRO’s] ship dates 
for all applicants.” 

• Initiative:  “[His] complete disregard to attention to detail directly lead [sic] to the removal of 
[the CGRO’s] ship dates for all applicants. [He] has constantly been disruptive in the office 
which has lead [sic] to his complete removal from both the Recruiting Office and MEPS.” 

• Conduct:  “UNSATISFACTORY: Failed to meet minimum standards [he] brought discredit 
to the Coast Guard as evidenced by adverse CG-3307 entries by failing to conform to mili-
tary rules, regulations, and standards.” 

• Advancement: “NOT RECOMMENDED: The individual is not capable of satisfactorily per-
forming the duties and responsibilities of the next higher pay grade.” 

 
 On May 8, 2012, the applicant was charged with additional offenses under the UCMJ, 
which were later dismissed pursuant to a pretrial agreement and are not in the record. 
 

On May 14, 2012, the Commander of the CGRC signed a final report on the applicant’s 
complaint of harassment against the RIC, which was dated April 17, 2012.  He reported the 
following:  
 

[The applicant’s] allegations are not substantiated in that the behaviors directed towards [him by 
the RIC] were not based on a protected status … . However, [the applicant] and other production 
recruiters at [the CGRO] brought up valid points regarding areas wherein [the RIC’s] rapport with 
his recruiters could be improved; specifically that the environment in the Recruiting Office was 
not conducive to the success of the recruiters as professional and individuals.  However, many of 
the specific negative interactions that [the applicant] personally experienced with [the RIC] were 
triggered by his own failure or unwillingness to follow correct recruiting procedures or other 
directions given by [the RIC]. 

 
 The report stated that the CGRC’s Command Master Chief would counsel the applicant 
about the findings of the investigation and the RIC would receive guidance and mentoring and 
implement a plan to improve the working environment at the CGRO. 
 
 On August 8, 2012, the applicant signed a pre-trial agreement “in exchange for good con-
sideration and after thorough consultation with my defense counsel, offer to plead as follows at 
non-judicial punishment provided the convening authority agrees to dismiss the charges and 
specifications preferred against me on May 8, 2012.”  In exchange for having the May 8, 2012, 
charges dismissed, the applicant agreed to plead guilty at mast to the following: 
 
• One count of violating Article 92 for “on divers occasions on, about, or between 6 August 

2011 and 12 August 2011, violate a lawful general order, to wit: COMDTINST 5375.1B, 
Limited Personal Use of Government Office Equipment … by wrongfully using government 
provided internet technology to access prohibited websites. 
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which brings discredit upon the armed forces between December 2010 to on or about August 
2011.   

 
 On January 14, 2014, the Commander of the CGRC signed another report to take final 
action on an administrative investigation of the RIC.  The report notes the prior complaints 
against the RIC filed by the applicant in BCMR Docket No. 2014-071 in 2011 and by the 
applicant in this case in 2012.  The report states that in October 2013 recruiters in the office had 
found his iPad opened to the webpage of a fantasy football team that the RIC maintained with 
the team name of “Texas Cracker Killers.”  In November 2013, a third party complained that the 
RIC had told a female recruiter she was “PMSing.”  The report states that all but one of the 
RIC’s subordinates expressed displeasure, fear of intimidation or reprisal, and/or confusion about 
policies and practices” at the CGRO under the RIC’s leadership.   
 

The report also notes that the CGRO had been underperforming before the RIC arrived 
and that the perception of his superiors was that he was “an excellent [Recruiter in Charge] who 
corrected a foundering ship to include improved mission performance and an excellent recent 
Standardization Inspection.”  The RIC had “inherited an office with substantial professionalism 
and operational problems and … he set out to correct them with a firm hand.  This change in 
expectations and firmness caused great discontent for recruiters who were already in the office.”  
The report states that despite counseling and mentoring, the RIC was unable to lead the CGRO in 
a manner that supported workplace satisfaction and recommended that the RIC be removed.  The 
report concludes that the RIC did not actually engage in prohibited harassment but that “the 
totality of [his] statements, practices and action led his staff to reasonably believe that some of 
his actions were based on protected categories of race, ethnicity or gender.” 
 

VIEWS OF THE COAST GUARD 
 
 On August 19, 2015, the Judge Advocate General of the Coast Guard (JAG) submitted an 
advisory opinion in which he recommended that the Board deny relief. 
 
 The JAG stated that this case is distinguishable from another case, BCMR Docket No. 
2014-071, in which the Board removed two EERs from the record of another member at the 
same CGRO who had filed complaints against the RIC.  The JAG alleged that unlike the situa-
tion in 2014-071, the disputed EER in this case is substantiated by the Page 7 dated January 17, 
2012, in the applicant’s record; by the EER comments explaining why he received a low mark 
for the performance factor “Communicating”; and his subsequent transfer.  Moreover, the JAG 
noted that the Civil Rights Directorate, which investigated the applicant’s complaint, found that 
his allegations were not substantiated and that “many of the specific negative interactions that 
[the applicant] personally experience with [the RIC] were triggered by his own failure or 
unwillingness to follow correct recruiting procedures or other directions given by [the RIC].”  

                                                                                                                                                             
whom, or by what means any of such mentioned articles, matters, or things may be obtained or 
made; or … 

4 COMDTINST 5375.1B contains the Coast Guard’s policy for “Limited Personal Use of Government Office 
Equipment and Services,” and prohibits the use of such equipment and services for, inter alia, sexually harassing 
others and viewing, storing, or transmitting sexually explicit material. 
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reduction in rate because there is no requirement for a member to receive counseling on every 
possible administrative consequence of NJP. 

 
APPLICANT’S RESPONSE TO THE VIEWS OF THE COAST GUARD 

 
 On August 21, 2015, the Chair sent the applicant a copy of the views of the Coast Guard 
and invited a response within thirty days.  The applicant submitted a response on September 18, 
2015.   
  
 The applicant stated that he did not dispute his EER dated November 30, 2011, because 
during that marking period he had used his government cell phone inappropriately, and his marks 
reflected that.  However, he argued, there was no justification for the marks he received on his 
EER dated April 24, 2012.  He stated that the claim that he had used discriminatory recruiting 
practices is a fabrication.  He argued that there “is no evidence to support any of [his] evalua-
tions, however there is evidence that supports [the RIC’s] bias.”  He again pointed out that he 
was working at MEPs for most of the marking period and that he received the disputed EER 
shortly after he filed a harassment complaint against the RIC. 
 
 The applicant stated that there is no evidence of a “trend in sexual harassment.”  He 
admitted that he had previously misused this government telephone in his communications with 
his girlfriend but noted that it was during the prior marking period and that it therefore should 
not have affected his April 2012 EER.  The applicant stated that the only evidence of a “trend in 
sexual harassment” is from the RIC, who was later found not fit to be a supervisor at the CGRO.  
He argued that his claims about the RIC are proven by the fact that others complained about the 
RIC, that the RIC was found to lack leadership, and that the RIC was removed from his position.  
The applicant argued that it is unfair that his career was destroyed by a minor rules violation with 
a government cell phone but the RIC was “allowed to walk away from [his discriminatory con-
duct] over and over for years unscathed while working as the Recruiter in Charge of an office of 
diverse people recruiting diverse people in the [urban] area.” 
 
 The applicant alleged that there is no evidence supporting the claim in the Page 7 that 
recruits were not DEP’ed in a timely manner and that the database shows that none were DEP’ed 
fewer than 30 days from their ship dates. 
 
 In support of these allegations, the applicant submitted the following: 
 
• A print-out from the CGRC database shows that the applicant recruited 24 members while 

assigned to the CGRO, including 13 recruits who identified as non-Hispanic Caucasians,  
6 who identified as Hispanic, 2 who identified as Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, 1 who identified 
as Asian, 1 who identified as African American, and 1 who identified as “other.”  In addition, 
2 of his 24 recruits (both non-Hispanic Caucasians) were female.   

• The applicant in BCMR Docket No. 2014-071, an MKC, stated on behalf of the applicant 
that the MKC worked with the RIC from July 2011 through June 2012 and “saw nothing but 
intimidating, manipulative and hostile behavior from him”; that he filed two formal com-
plaints against the RIC; and that he received relief from the BCMR.  The MKC stated that 
anyone who disagreed with the RIC would be “belittled and intimidated.”  He stated that the 
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military-type female to drive it but required others to be in uniform when driving government 
vehicles. 

 
AMENDED REQUEST FOR RELIEF AND ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE 

 
 The applicant submitted another application in September 2015 in which he requested 
removal of the NJP he received on September 27, 2012.  On November 4, 2015, the applicant 
asked that his two applications be combined and considered together.   
 
 Regarding the NJP, the applicant alleged that the RIC provided incorrect and untruthful 
information to his CO.  He argued that the preponderance of the evidence shows that the RIC is 
deceitful and not credible.  The applicant alleged that the RIC “manipulated a remote command’s 
opinion of me based largely on lies as he did to multiple previous recruiters under his super-
vision.”  The applicant argued that because the CO relied on the RIC’s lies, he did not have an 
accurate depiction of the applicant while deciding his punishment.  He noted that the CO visited 
their CGRO and spoke with the RIC the week before the applicant’s mast.  He argued that the 
RIC took a “minor violation”—minor because the command offered to have the offense tried at 
mast instead of court-martial—“and created a situation based on false information and lies about 
me that destroyed my reputation within the command” and has hindered his advancement. 
 
 Regarding the EERs, the applicant stated that he admitted to having “sexted” his girl-
friend on his government cell phone during the day he was accused of having done it.  He argued 
that it could not be considered sexual harassment because she was his girlfriend.  The applicant 
also argued that the CGRC database printout proves that he did not use discriminatory practices 
in recruiting members, as the RIC claimed.  He noted that he is “married to a Japanese woman 
and have two bi-racial sons.  The claim that I am or have used discriminatory anything is heinous 
and offensive.”  He argued that the evidence shows that it is the RIC who is racist, but the com-
mand called the name of the RIC’s fantasy football team (“Texas Cracker Killers”) a “single 
error in judgment” and ignored or downplayed the claims of his subordinates.  Regarding the 
comment in the EER that he had been disrespectful to his “immediate supervisors” in their 
homes, the applicant denied ever having been to the RIC’s home. 
 
 The applicant argued that the only evidence against him are the words of the RIC, whom 
the Coast Guard removed from his position and who is a habitual liar. 
 
 In support of this request, the applicant submitted some of the same documents he had 
previously submitted, as well as a copy of the application for BCMR Docket No. 2014-071, in 
which that applicant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the RIC knew that the 
applicant had filed two complaints against him about issuing unlawful orders when the RIC pre-
pared the applicant’s EERs dated November 30, 2011, and May 31, 2012, and that there was no 
other evidence of poor performance or misconduct to support the sudden decline in his marks. 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL VIEWS OF THE COAST GUARD 
 
 On March 18, 2016, the Board received a supplemental advisory opinion from the JAG in 
which the JAG again recommended denying relief.  The JAG stated that the record shows that 



Final Decision in BCMR Docket No. 2015-018                                                                     p. 16 

the Coast Guard had investigated the applicant’s claims and concluded that many of the specific 
negative interactions that the applicant had complained about were caused by his own failure or 
unwillingness to follow correct recruiting procedures or other directions given by his supervisor.  
The JAG noted that the applicant failed to address the Civil Rights Directorate’s report of the 
investigation of his complaint.   
 

The JAG argued that, unlike the case of the applicant in BCMR Docket No. 2014-071, 
this applicant’s record contains documentation of “negative behavior,” substantiating the low 
marks and negative comments in the disputed EER.  The JAG noted that like the disputed EER, 
the applicant’s prior, November 30, 2011, EER contains similar comments regarding failing to 
meet standards, failing to conform to rules, and demonstrating unprofessional behavior, sexual 
harassment, and inappropriate language in the workplace.  The JAG argued that because the 
applicant did not file his own complaint until after the November 2011 EER was issued and the 
April 2012 EER is similar to the November 2011 EER, the April 2012 EER apparently reflects a 
pattern of poor performance on the part of the applicant, rather than reprisal by the RIC. 
 
 Regarding the NJP, the JAG noted that the applicant was advised of his rights and 
voluntarily consented to the NJP. 
 
 Regarding the Page 7, the JAG noted that the applicant submitted no evidence to disprove 
the statements therein. 
 

APPLICANT’S RESPONSE TO THE SUPPLEMENTAL ADVISORY OPINION 
 
 On April 19, 2016, the applicant responded to the Coast Guard’s supplemental advisory 
opinion.  The applicant argued that his NJP should be removed because the alleged offense “was 
not filed under the correct article” of the UCMJ.  In support of this claim, he submitted part of an 
exchange of emails with a Navy JAG officer dated April 5, 2016, in which the JAG stated “you 
use that Article [134] when you want to charge someone with violating federal law.  In this case, 
they were charging you with that federal law (the 18 USC section) that is normally used for child 
pornography.  That of course is not what we were dealing with and besides, there was no evi-
dence that you violated the law anyway.”  The applicant also alleged that the “sexting” incident 
was used to lower his marks in both marking periods, contrary to regulations.  He argued that not 
one of the eight criteria that require an unsatisfactory conduct mark under Article 4.D.4.b. of the 
Enlisted Manual were met in either marking period.   
 
 The applicant alleged that the CGRC conducted inadequate “self investigations” that did 
not include interviews with his coworkers at the CGRO or MEPs.  He argued that the statements 
he has submitted from his coworkers and his “log” prove this point. 
 
 The applicant stated that his EER dated November 30, 2011, should also be “in question” 
because it was prepared by the RIC.  He argued that he has proven that the RIC was racially 
biased against him. 
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in the office due to their rank and so were targeted and mistreated them more.  The applicant 
stated that the RIC had given him a Page 7 for two “cussing tirades,” which the applicant did 
not consider to be “tirades,” and he had refused to sign it.  The applicant stated that in one of 
the alleged “tirades”—a discussion of his household goods transportation on March 28, 
2012—he had not used profanity at all.  He complained that the Page 7 about the DEP was 
also false, and he alleged that the RIC had once criticized him for recruiting two Hispanic 
females to join the Coast Guard when they came to the CGRO to ask for directions to the Air 
Force recruiting office. 

• An email from the applicant to a senior chief dated April 24, 2012, by which the applicant 
forwarded his list of complaints against the RIC and stated that the RIC had cursed at 
someone at MEPS and did “not know how to communicate like a human being.”  He 
provided a list of people who he said had complained about the RIC. 

 
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

 
 The Board makes the following findings and conclusions on the basis of the applicant’s 
military record and submissions, the Coast Guard’s submissions, and applicable regulations: 

1. The Board has jurisdiction concerning this matter pursuant to 10 U.S.C. § 1552.  
The application was timely filed.   

 
2. The applicant requested an oral hearing before the Board.  The Chair, acting pur-

suant to 33 C.F.R. § 52.51, denied the request and recommended disposition of the case without 
a hearing.  The Board concurs in that recommendation.7  
 

3. The applicant asked the Board to expunge from his record a Page 7 dated March 
30, 2012, his EERs dated November 30, 2011, and April 24, 2012, and the NJP he received on 
September 27, 2012, because, he alleged, they are erroneous and unjust.  He also asked the 
Board to reverse the consequences of his NJP on his points total in competing for advancement.  
In considering allegations of error and injustice, the Board begins its analysis by presuming that 
the disputed information in the applicant’s military record is correct as it appears in her record, 
and the applicant bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the dis-
puted information is erroneous or unjust.8  Absent evidence to the contrary, the Board presumes 
that Coast Guard officials and other Government employees have carried out their duties “cor-
rectly, lawfully, and in good faith.”9  

 
4. The record shows that the applicant’s CO signed the disputed Page 7 on March 

30, 2012, which criticized the applicant for failing to follow the order of the CGRC and his RIC 
regarding enrolling candidates in the DEP at least 30 days before their “ship date.”  The applicant 
alleged that the Page 7 is false but submitted no evidence to prove this claim.  He alleged that 
other recruiters received the same Page 7, but this claim does not show that the counseling he 
                                                 
7 Armstrong v. United States, 205 Ct. Cl. 754, 764 (1974) (stating that a hearing is not required because BCMR 
proceedings are non-adversarial and 10 U.S.C. § 1552 does not require them). 
8 33 C.F.R. § 52.24(b). 
9 Arens v. United States, 969 F.2d 1034, 1037 (Fed. Cir. 1992); Sanders v. United States, 594 F.2d 804, 813 (Ct. Cl. 
1979). 
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received on the Page 7 was inaccurate.  Even if, as he alleged, all of his recruits during the 
reporting period “shipped” to recruit training more than 30 days after they were enlisted under 
the DEP, this would not prove that the Page 7 was erroneous or unjust because the Page 7 may 
document conduct that occurred before the start of the reporting period for the EER and because, 
as noted in the comments for the EER dated April 24, 2012, the applicant’s actions caused many 
of the CGRO’s original “ship dates” to be canceled and rescheduled.  The Page 7 is signed by the 
applicant’s CO, and the fact that his RIC was later removed for inability to lead the CGRO in a 
manner that supported workplace satisfaction does not cast any significant doubt on the validity 
of the CO’s Page 7.  The Board finds that the applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the disputed Page 7 is erroneous or unjust. 

 
5. Regarding the EERs, the Board notes that the applicant did not appeal either of 

them and initially admitted that he did not complain about the November 30, 2011, EER because 
he had committed misconduct during the marking period.  He also alleged that he did not appeal 
the EERs because he feared retaliation by the RIC.  The Coast Guard pointed out that the appli-
cant did not fear the RIC enough to sign the disputed Page 7 when the RIC presented it to him 
for signature on March 30, 2012, and the applicant indicated to the investigator and he had 
refused to sign another Page 7 as well.  However, as the applicant noted, the Board has already 
removed the November 2011 and April 2012 EERs of the applicant in BCMR Docket No. 2014-
071 because that applicant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the low marks on his 
EERs “were adversely affected by factors that should not be in the rating process.”  In 2014-071, 
there was no evidence of misconduct or poor performance in the applicant’s record, and he had 
formally accused the RIC of implementing discriminatory recruiting practices, although they 
were apparently new practices sanctioned by CGRC.  In addition, an investigation conducted in 
2013 had shown that the workplace climate was poor and some of the RIC’s subordinates 
thought that he would retaliate if they crossed him in some way.  In light of this evidence, the 
Board will not interpret the applicant’s failure to appeal the EERs as evidence that they are cor-
rect.  Although he apparently did not fear retaliation when he refused to sign the Page 7s, he may 
nonetheless have feared retaliation when he received the EERs. 

 
6. The applicant alleged that his April 24, 2012, EER was prepared in retaliation 

because he had filed a harassment complaint against the RIC.  In subsequent submissions, he 
also alleged that it was a result of racism.  The May 14, 2012, report of the Civil Rights Direc-
torate’s investigation of the applicant’s complaint, however, noted that the applicant’s complaint 
was not based on a protected status, such as race.  The summary of his interview with the 
investigator shows that the applicant rejected race as a basis and was accusing the RIC of 
violating the Coast Guard’s core values.  The only things he mentioned regarding race were that 
the RIC had once said something that implied he thought “it was a white man’s Coast Guard” 
and that the RIC might be retaliating against him because the RIC thought he himself had been 
discriminated against.  The report shows that while “the environment in the Recruiting Office 
was not conducive to the success of the recruiters, … many of the specific negative interactions 
that [the applicant] personally experienced with [the RIC] were triggered by his own failure or 
unwillingness to follow correct recruiting procedures or other directions given by [the RIC].”  
This finding is supported by the summary of their interview and by the applicant’s own 
statement to CGIS on February 15, 2012, that the RIC was “very by the book,” which did not 
suit the applicant.  The record shows that the applicant filed his complaint against the RIC on 
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April 17, 2012, before the EER was finalized, but he filed it after the RIC presumably asked the 
applicant for his EER input.10  In addition, the record shows that during the marking period for 
the April 24, 2012, EER, the applicant was disqualified first from recruiting based on his text 
about potentially “banging” a recruit and then from working at MEPS because of additional 
misconduct.  The record supports the applicant’s claim that in 2013, the RIC had a fantasy 
football team called the Texas Cracker Killers, but given the substantial evidence in the record of 
the applicant’s misconduct and poor performance, the Board finds that he has not proven by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the low marks and negative comments on his April 24, 2012, 
EER were assigned because of racism or retaliation. 

 
7. The applicant alleged that the April 24, 2012, EER is erroneous and unjust 

because he was assigned to MEPS on a temporary basis for most of the marking period.  How-
ever, the record shows that the applicant had been disqualified from recruiting by the CO, and 
the comments in the EER show that the applicant’s rating chain received input from the MEPS 
command about the applicant’s performance at MEPS.  Each of the low performance marks on 
this EER is supported by an appropriate comment reflecting poor performance in that dimension.  
Accordingly and given the evidence of the applicant’s negative performance and disqualification 
from both recruiting and MEPS during the marking period, the Board finds that he has not 
proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the marks and comments in his April 24, 2012, 
EER are erroneous or unjust or a matter of retaliation or racism. 

 
8. The applicant alleged that the April 24, 2012, EER is unjust because the com-

ments are repetitive and insufficient to support the marks, especially the unsatisfactory conduct 
mark, as required by Article 5.B.1. of the Enlisted Manual, COMDTINST M1000.2.11  The 
record shows that the comments are very repetitive, but repetitive comments are not prohibited 
by the Enlisted Manual.  Nothing in the regulations prohibits the same example or description of 
poor performance from being cited to support a low mark for more than one performance 
dimension.  For example, failing to follow required procedures reflects on the quality of one’s 
work, one’s need to be monitored by a supervisor, one’s direction of and setting an example for 
others, one’s responsibility, etc.  The Board finds that the repetition of the comments in the EER 
does not render it invalid or unjust.  The EER comments are not full of details but they are suffi-
ciently specific to show why the applicant received the low marks, and the comment supporting 
the unsatisfactory conduct mark cites adverse Page 7 entries, bringing discredit on the Coast 
Guard, and failing to conform to military rules, regulations, and standards.  The record contains 
two adverse Page 7s received by the applicant during the marking period.  They document his 
disqualification from recruiting and his failure to follow the CGRC’s policy regarding the DEP.  
The record also shows that the applicant’s conduct during the marking period resulted in his 
                                                 
10 Article 5.D.3.b. of COMDTINST M1000.2, the Enlisted Manual, requires the Supervisor to seek input for an EER 
from the evaluee, which should be submitted at least 14 days before the end of the marking period.  The Supervisor 
also makes recommended marks on the EER, drafts any required supporting comments on an EER, and forwards the 
EER to the Marking Official at least 9 days before the end of the reporting period. 
11 Article 5.B.1. of the Enlisted Manual, COMDTINST M1000.2, provides that low marks of 1 or 2 and high marks 
of 7 on an EER must be supported by remarks and an unsatisfactory conduct mark “must be supported by an adverse 
entry for (1) Non-judicial punishment; (2) Court-martial; (3) Civil conviction; (4) Financial irresponsibility; (5) Not 
supporting dependents; (6) Alcohol incidents; and (7) Not complying with civilian and military rules, regulations, 
and standards.”  For reason (7), it requires “specific examples of … nonconformance to civilian and military rules, 
regulations, and standards which discredited the Coast Guard.”   
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12. The applicant argued that his EERs should be removed because his case is similar 
to that of the applicant in BCMR Docket No. 2014-071, wherein the Board expunged two EERs 
for an applicant who had previously filed two complaints against the RIC and accused the RIC of 
discriminatory recruiting practices.  In 2014-071, there was no evidence of misconduct or poor 
performance in the applicant’s record and so the preponderance of the evidence before the Board 
in that case supported that applicant’s allegation that the EERs were retaliatory.  In this case, 
however, there is ample evidence of the applicant’s misconduct and poor performance in both 
reporting periods.  Based on his misconduct, he got disqualified first from recruiting and then 
from MEPS, and both the CO and RIC found that he had failed to follow authorized recruiting 
policies.  Therefore, the Board finds that the applicant’s case is significantly different from that 
of the applicant in BCMR Docket No. 2014-071, and the grant of relief in 2014-071 should not 
determine the outcome of this case. 

 
13. The applicant asked the Board to remove his NJP dated September 27, 2012, from 

his record.  He argued that his offenses were “minor” because they were punished at mast instead 
of court-martial and that the only evidence against him was the RIC’s claims.  He complained 
that the specification for one of the charges cited 18 U.S.C. § 1462, which concerns interstate 
commerce in obscene materials.  The Board finds, however, that the report of the investigation 
contains ample evidence that the applicant misused his government cell phone to “sext” and 
harass his ex-girlfriend, contrary to regulations.  The pretrial agreement and his attorney’s 
memorandum in support of the pretrial agreement also show that he knowingly accepted the NJP, 
including the reduction in rate, to avoid court-martial and punishment for additional UCMJ 
offenses that he had been charged with on May 8, 2012.   

 
14. The applicant’s attorney’s memorandum to the CO in support of his pretrial 

agreement shows that the applicant intentionally pled guilty to violating Article 134, the general 
article prohibiting “all disorders and neglects to the prejudice of good order and discipline,” even 
though the prepared specification for the charge cited 18 U.S.C. § 1462 and even though his 
attorney determined that his misconduct did not meet the elements of a violation of 18 U.S.C.  
§ 1462.  According to the Manual for Courts-Martial United States, the three clauses of Article 
134 make punishable “[t]hree categories of offenses not specifically covered in any other article 
of the code … Clause 1 offenses involve disorders and neglects to the prejudice of good order 
and discipline in the armed forces.  Clause 2 offenses involve conduct of a nature to bring dis-
credit upon the armed forces.  Clause 3 offenses involve noncapital crimes or offenses which 
violate Federal law.”  The Article 134 specification in this case cites 18 U.S.C. § 1462 as if rely-
ing Clause 3 of Article 134 but also states that his conduct “was prejudicial to the good order and 
discipline or of a nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces” and so also describes an 
offense under both Clause 1 and Clause 2.  The specification thus appears to try to fulfill the 
requirements of all three clauses, whereas meeting the terms of only one of the three clauses is 
sufficient to establish a violation of Article 134.  Given that the applicant’s ex-girlfriend changed 
her phone to show “CG Perv” or “CG Pervert” whenever he called her after he sexted her, the 
Board is not persuaded that the applicant did not violate Article 134 even though the specifica-
tion is poorly written.  Therefore and because the applicant knew from his attorney that 18 
U.S.C. § 1462 was incorrect and still chose to plead guilty at mast to violating both Article 92 
and Article 134 to avoid court-martial and to avoid punishment for the additional charges laid 
against him on May 8, 2012, the Board finds no grounds for removing the NJP from his record. 
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15. The applicant asked the Board to restore points in the advancement system that he 

lost because of his reduction in rate.  He argued that he should have been expressly warned that 
one of the consequences of accepting the NJP would be a loss of points.  Under the rules for NJP 
in the Manual for Courts-Martial United States, a service member who, like the applicant, has the 
right to reject NJP and demand trial by court-martial must be counseled about “the maximum 
punishment which the nonjudicial punishment authority may impose by nonjudicial punish-
ment,” and the maximum punishment that the applicant’s CO could impose included a reduction 
in rate.  The record shows that the applicant was advised that he could be reduced in rate at mast.  
In fact, his attorney’s memorandum shows that he knew he would be reduced in rate at mast 
because the CO had previously rejected a condition in a prior proposed pretrial agreement that 
would have prevented the CO from reducing the applicant’s rate at mast.  Under the Enlisted 
Manual and other Coast Guard policies, a reduction in rate from E-6 to E-5 has several 
administrative consequences, but the rules do not require a member to be counseled about every 
administrative consequence of a reduction in rate.  The Board finds that the applicant has not 
shown that his loss of points in the advancement system because of his reduction in rate at mast 
is erroneous or unjust. 

 
16. The applicant argued that relief should be granted because, he alleged, his RIC 

was racist and dishonest.  The record indicates that upon reporting as the new RIC in the summer 
of 2011, the RIC had been tasked with improving the performance of the CGRO, which the 
CGRC considered to be poor, and with implementing new, authorized recruiting policies, which 
his subordinates considered discriminatory.  The record also shows that his subordinates found 
him “very by the book,” “intimidating,” “manipulative,” “extremely harsh,” “discouraging,” and 
“hostile,” which led to his removal in January 2014 for poor leadership after the third investiga-
tion of a subordinate’s allegations in 2013.  None of the investigators found that the RIC’s 
policies or leadership were actually discriminatory.  The third concluded that the RIC had not 
actually engaged in prohibited harassment but that “the totality of [his] statements, practices and 
action led his staff to reasonably believe that some of his actions were based on protected catego-
ries of race, ethnicity or gender.”  In addition, the third investigation noted that the RIC’s iPad 
had been found open to the webpage of his fantasy football team called the Texas Cracker Killers 
and he had once told a female recruiter she was “PMSing.”  The Board certainly does not con-
done the RIC’s actions but is not persuaded that the disputed Page 7, EERs, and NJP are inaccu-
rate or unjust in light of the evidence against the applicant.   

 
17. The applicant made numerous allegations with respect to the actions and attitude 

of the RIC and the disputed documents.  Those allegations not specifically addressed above are 
considered to be unsupported by substantial evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption of 
regularity and/or are not dispositive of the case.12   
 
 18. Accordingly, the applicant’s request should be denied because he has not proven 
by a preponderance of the evidence that the disputed Page 7s, EERs, NJP, reduction in rate, or 
loss of points were erroneous or unjust. 

ORDER 
                                                 
12 33 C.F.R. § 52.24(b); see Frizelle v. Slater, 111 F.3d 172, 177 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (noting that the Board need not 
address arguments that “appear frivolous on their face and could [not] affect the Board's ultimate disposition”). 






